TOPICAL

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 26, 1999, the Pinellas County Grand Jury indicted the appellant, Kenneth Louis Dessaure, Jr., for the first-degree premeditated murder of Cindy Riedweg on February 9, 1999. [ROA V1 1-2] Dessaure was tried by jury before Circuit Judge Brandt C. Downey, III, on August 28 through September 5, 2001. [ROA V25 1; V37 1716] Defense counsel moved to preclude the death penalty on the ground that the State did not allege aggravating circumstances in the indictment. The court denied the motion. [ROA V25 29-35; SR 1-13] The jury found Dessaure guilty of first-degree murder as charged. [ROA V23 4201; V37 1817] The court adjudicated him guilty. [ROA V24 4366; V37 1819] At a hearing on September 6, 2001, defense counsel filed Dessaure's signed, written waiver of his right to present mitigating evidence to the jury. [ROA V24 4310-11; V37 1827] The court inquired to determine that the waiver was knowing, voluntary, and against advice of counsel. [ROA V37 1829-32] The penalty phase trial was conducted without a jury on September 11, 2001. [ROA V38 1840-1926] Dessaure filed a signed, written waiver of argument in favor of a life sentence during the penalty phase. [ROA V24 4313; ROA V38 1847-48] Defense counsel filed a motion for new trial on September 17, 2001. [ROA V24 4408-09] Both parties presented evidence at a Spencer hearing conducted on October 15, 2001. [ROA V24 4424-73] Both parties filed sentencing memoranda. [ROA V24 4333-34, 4337-49] A presentence investigation report was prepared.

On October 26, 2001, the court sentenced Dessaure to death. [ROA V24 4358-65, 4367-94] The court found four aggravating circumstances had been proven beyond a reasonable doubt: 1. The capital felony was committed by a person previously convicted

of a felony, conspiracy to commit armed robbery, and placed on community control (some weight). [ROA V24 4358-59] 2. The defendant was previously convicted of a felony involving the use or threat of violence, resisting arrest with violence (little weight). [ROA V24 4359] 3. The capital felony was committed during the course of a burglary (great weight). [ROA V24 4359-60] 4. The capital felony was especially heinous, atrocious, and cruel (very great weight). [ROA V24 4360-61] The court found that five mitigating circumstances had been established: 1. The defendant was 21 years old (some weight). [ROA V24 4362] 2. The defendant has the capacity and desire to be a loving parent (little weight). [ROA V24 4362] 3. The defendant's family life was dysfunctional while he was growing up, his parents abandoned him to be raised by his grandmother, and his older brother died in a traffic accident (some weight). [ROA V24 4362-63] 4. The defendant has the capacity to form personal relationships (little weight). [ROA V24 4363] 5. The defendant was well behaved in court (little weight). [ROA V24 4363] This Court affirmed the judgment and sentence. *Dessaure v. State*, 891 So.2d 455 (Fla. 2004). The mandate was issued on December 22, 2004. On February 28, 2006, a "Motion to Vacate Judgment and Death Sentence" was filed by Capital Collateral Regional Counsel. The rule 3.851 evidentiary hearing was conducted on March 10-11, 2008. On February 5, 2009, the lower Court denied all relief. (PC-ROA VOI. I 1- 87). After a timely notice, this appeal followed.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State's Case

Kenneth Dessaure lived with Amy Cockrell and Tim Connole in apartment 1307 of the Village at Countryside at 1307 Amanda Lane in Oldsmar in Pinellas County. [ROA V27 414, 452; ROA V28 489-91, 514-16] Cindy Riedweg moved into apartment 1308 next door to them on the weekend of Super Bowl Sunday in 1999. [ROA V28 492, 518; V29 695, 705- 06] Both Dessaure and Connole commented on how pretty Riedweg was. [ROA V28 493, 519] Sometimes she sunbathed on a chair in front of her apartment. [ROA V28 494, 525] Neither Cockrell nor Connole was aware of Dessaure having any social relationship with Riedweg or of him having been inside her apartment. [ROA V28 493-94, 520] Riedweg was a CNA at the Harborside Nursing Home. [ROA V29 759-60] She had a relationship with a boyfriend named Stuart Cole, who was married to another woman. [ROA V29 702-04, 710] Riedweg's friend Doreen Cosenzino, Donald Cambensy, and workers sent by Cole helped her move in. [ROA V29 700, 704-07; V30 893-94] Riedweg did not smoke and refused to allow Cole or Cosenzino's husband to smoke in her apartment. [ROA V29 708-09] On February 9, 1999, Cockrell left her apartment at 8:00 a.m. Dessaure, Connole, and Connole's friend Ivan Hup were there when she left. [ROA V28 495-96, 522-24] Connole and Hup went out for lunch around noon, leaving Dessaure alone in the apartment. [ROA V28 524-25] Before they left, Connole heard some guy ranting and raving on a cell phone outside his apartment. [ROA V28 550] Connole did not hear what the man said. He did not see the man when they departed. [ROA V28 551] Steven Way lived in the apartment at 1309 Amanda Lane. Although he did not know Riedweg, he was aware that a girl had moved into the

apartment next door a couple of weeks before. [ROA V27 437-38] On the afternoon of February 9, 1999, Way went to the store for about 20 to 30 minutes. [ROA V27 438] When he returned, he noticed a lawn chair and telephone on the sidewalk. Nobody was around and everyone's doors were closed. He went into his apartment, leaving the door open. [ROA V27 439-41] He did not hear any unusual noises. [ROA V27 441]

John Hayes lived in the apartment at 1408 Amanda Lane on February 9, 1999. As he left his apartment to go to work around 3:30 p.m., he encountered a young, tall, thin African-American man in the parking lot. He had seen the man in the complex before. [ROA V27 447-49] The man was wearing shorts, but no shirt. [ROA V27 450, 461] Hayes first saw the man walking on the sidewalk in front of the last apartment in building 13. When they reached the middle of the parking lot, the man motioned him over. [ROA V27 451] In court, Hayes identified a photo, State Exhibit 7 [ROA V27 449], and Dessaure as the man he saw. [ROA V27 452] Dessaure told him he thought there was someone dead or dying in the apartment. Hayes asked how he knew. Dessaure said he went there for ice and looked in. He acted nervous. His left hand was balled up. Hayes told him to call 911. [ROA V27 452-53, 46] Dessaure went to the back side of the apartments. [ROA V27 454] Donna Biem, a 911 supervisor, received a call from 1308 Amanda Lane at 3:35 p.m. on February 9, 1999. [ROA V27 464-66] Biem transferred the call to Antoinette Maglione, a 911 operator for the Sheriff's Office, at 3:37 p.m. [ROA V27 468, 475-78] The Advanced Life Support unit arrived at the scene at 3:39 p.m. [ROA V27 467] A tape recording of the 911 call was played for the jury. [ROA V27 472-74, 480-83] Dessaure reported that his next door neighbor was dead in apartment 1308 of the Village at Countryside at 1308 Amanda Lane in Oldsmar. [ROA V27 472-74] He said

he walked over to see if Cindy had some ice. She was sunbathing. Her phone was outside. He opened the door. She was lying in the middle of her hallway naked. Dessaure said he asked a "home boy" to help, but he would not come over. Dessaure used her phone to call the police. [ROA V27 473]

The operator asked him to stay on the line while she transferred the call to the Sheriff's Office. [ROA V27 474] When the Sheriff's Office operator took over the call, Dessaure repeated that his next door neighbor was dead at 1308 Amanda Lane. The operator asked how, and he replied that he did not know. Dessaure then said, "Ow. Fuck." The operator asked what was going on. [ROA V27 480] He replied that he just cut his finger while washing his dishes. In response to further questions, Dessaure said that he had not touched his neighbor, his name was Kenny, and he lived next door. He explained that he was cleaning his house and saw her outside sunbathing. He went next door to see if she had some ice. Her stuff was outside, so he figured she was in the bathroom. He knocked on the door, but did not receive an answer. The door was unlocked, so he went in. She was lying in the middle of the hallway. [ROA V27 481] He did not know if she was breathing. [ROA V27 481-82] He did not walk up to her. He just walked out of the house. He went to the boy who was standing outside. Dessaure just cut his finger. He had not seen anyone unusual. His neighbor's name was Cindy. [ROA V27 482] He guessed that she was between 28 and 35 years old. [ROA V27 482- 83] Paramedic Greg Newland was dispatched to 1308 Amanda Lane at 3:35 p.m. on February 9, 1999. [ROA V27 376-79] He, Captain Robert Carman, and EMT Jill Manines arrived at 3:39 p.m. [ROA V27 379] Newland identified a photo of the apartment complex, State Exhibit 11, and a close-up photo of building 13, State Exhibit 9. [ROA V27 381-82] The man shown in State

Exhibit 7 (Dessaure) met them and led them to the apartment. The back of his shirt appeared to be wet. [ROA V27 383-84,408-09]

Dessaure said he went over to borrow some ice and found his neighbor on the floor. He wasn't sure what was wrong with her. [ROA V27 385] Newland saw a lounge chair outside the apartment and a telephone lying beside the chair. [ROA V27 385-86] Newland entered the living room of the apartment and found a woman lying on the floor in a pool of blood. Carman escorted Dessaure out of the apartment, while Newland and Manines went to check on the woman. [ROA V27 387, 390] The woman was lying on her front with her arms tucked under her body. There were stab wounds to her upper back and shoulder. Newland found no pulse or breathing. The body was still warm. [ROA V27 391] He placed EKG leads on her back and obtained a reading showing a pulseless electrical activity rate of 30, which indicated that the heart was still conducting electricity but was not pumping. [ROA V27 392-94] That electrical activity was not sufficient to sustain life; she was already dead. [ROA V27 407] Newland called a Doctor on a portable radio. While he was talking to her, the electrical activity fell to flat line. The Doctor told Newland to roll the body over. He then found that her throat had been slashed. [ROA V27 395] He pronounced her dead at 3:41 p.m., two minutes after they arrived. [ROA V27 402, 407-08] Newland and Manines remained at the front door of the apartment to prevent anyone from entering. Carman cordoned off the area.

In a deposition, Hayes said that the ambulance arrived as he was driving out of the parking lot. [ROA V27 458] During cross examination, he also said he was leaving when the paramedics arrived. [ROA V27 460] fire scene tape. [ROA V27 403] Dessaure approached them several times, asking them if the woman was all right and what was

wrong with her. He seemed anxious. Newland saw Dessaure go up to several apartments and talk to other people from the complex who gathered at the scene. [ROA V27 404] Sheri Rodrigues had borrowed John Hayes' car. [ROA V 448-49] She drove up in the car about the same time that the Paramedics arrived. Hayes went to his car and sat down to put on his work boots. [ROA V27 455, 457-58] Dessaure came up and asked him for a cigarette. Hayes told him he did not smoke. [ROA V27 455] Afterwards, Hayes saw Dessaure smoking a cigarette in the parking lot. [ROA V27 455-56] Hayes went to work. He returned around 10:00 p.m. and spoke to law enforcement officers. [ROA V27 456] Hayes denied telling Deputy Hamilton that he saw Dessaure enter and leave Riedweg's apartment. [ROA V27 461-62]

Steven Way came out of his apartment and found the Paramedics there as they started to rope off the area. Way went back into his apartment. A strange black man came to the door and asked if he had seen anything. The man stuttered like he was nervous. [ROA V27 441-42, 444] Way had never seen the man before and never saw him again. [ROA V27 444, 446] He was skinny and taller than Way, who was 5 feet 7 inches tall. [ROA V27 444] Way went out into the parking lot a few times that night. [V27 442, 446] Later on, Detectives showed Way some photographs to see if he could identify the man, but he did not recognize any of them. [ROA V27 442-43, 445]

Tim Connole returned to his apartment between 4:00 and 4:30 p.m. [ROA V28 526-27] Fire trucks and paramedics were there, but his apartment had not been sealed off. Connole went inside. [ROA V28 527,545-47] Dessaure was acting nervous. [ROA V28 528] Dessaure said he had been trying to call Connole. Connole asked him what was going on and what was wrong with him. Dessaure said he didn't know, and there was a

body. Connole tried asking the neighbors what was going on, but they did not know.

[ROA V28 529] Dessaure then said he went over for some ice. He knocked, but there was no answer. He felt that something was wrong. He opened the door and saw a dead body lying in the hallway between the kitchen and the bathroom. [ROA V28 529-30, 550]

Once he saw the body, he ran out, picked up the phone, and dialed 911. [ROA V28 531]

Dessaure said he saw a guy in the parking lot. He said he did not want to be blamed for it.

[ROA V28 532] After about two or three hours, Connole noticed blood on Dessaure's shirt and asked him about it. Dessaure said he cut his hand doing the dishes and showed him the cut. [ROA V28 532-33]

Amy Cockrell returned to her apartment between 4:30

and 4:45 p.m. Connole and Hup were already there. The police were also there. [ROA

V28 499] Hup told her Dessaure went to Riedweg's apartment for ice. [ROA V28 499-

500] The next day, Cockrell looked in her own freezer and found a cup of ice but no ice

tray. [ROA V28 500-01, 510-11] In a prior statement, she told the prosecutor she found a

tray of ice that was frozen solid. [ROA V28 501-05, 512] Police technicians entered her

apartment to seize evidence on the night of February 9, 1999. One of the items seized was

an ice tray. [ROA V28 505] Later on, Cockrell's mother hired a private Detective to try to

help Dessaure. Dessaure called Connole and asked whether he had found the man

Dessaure had seen outside Riedweg's apartment. Dessaure was adamant that the man

could corroborate that he had only been in the apartment for two seconds. [ROA V27

5387-38] Connole testified that he could not get from the front door to the kitchen, then

back to the front door in two seconds. [ROA V28 539] Dessaure said he did not touch the

body. [ROA V28 539]

Karen Greule, a Forensic Science Specialist for the Pinellas County Sheriff's Office, arrived at Riedweg's apartment at 4:53 p.m. on February 9, 1999. [ROA V29 711-13, 742] She took photographs, including the exterior of Riedweg's apartment, the lawn chair, the exterior of Dessaure's apartment, Dessaure -- State Exhibit 7, the half-inch cut on Dessaure's hand, the interior of Riedweg's apartment, blood stains on the living room carpet, a vase on top of a television in the living room, and the waste basket in the kitchen. [ROA V29 714-24, 726-27, 736, 741, 743, 756-57] She took samples of the blood stains on the carpet and a chair in the living room. [ROA V29 725- 30] Upon entering the apartment, she did not see the body in the hallway until she was near the chair. [ROA V 755-56] She lifted 37 latent prints from the bedroom, laundry room, and living room, a mirror by the door, and the vase on the television. [ROA V29 732-35, 745] She took a photo, State Exhibit 63, which showed either an imperfection in the print or cigarette ashes in the kitchen sink. [ROA V29 738-40, 746, 752-54] She observed Dessaure smoking in the parking lot that evening. [ROA V29 739]

Catherine Holloway, another Forensic Science Specialist, collected the telephone found near the lawn chair [ROA V29 762-63, 768-69], a bathing suit top found on the floor of Riedweg's bedroom [ROA V29 770], a plastic mug and straw found on the counter of the kitchen sink [ROA V29 771-73], a white hair barrette with blood [ROA V29 777], a maroon hand towel found on the vanity in the bathroom [ROA V29 778-80], some knives [ROA V29 782-83], 19 samples of blood from the bathroom floor, walls, door, and toilet [ROA V29 785-86], the bottom of the bathing suit [ROA V29 787], the comforter from the bed [ROA V29 787-88, 790], and 23 cigarette butts from the parking lot and the area around the exterior of Riedweg's apartment. [ROA V29 798-99] She

observed two knives and cigarette ashes in a measuring cup in the kitchen sink, as shown in State Exhibit 63. [ROA V29 774-75] Another photo showed a black comforter on the bed and the bathing suit on the floor. [ROA V29 775-76] She failed to observe a stain on the comforter until she reviewed a video later on. [ROA V29 790-95] She observed an area of dampness on the kitchen floor in front of the sink. [ROA V29 789] Before jury selection, the court granted the Prosecutor's motion to exclude evidence of two marijuana cigarettes found in Riedweg's apartment. [ROA V25 23-24]

After the State presented evidence of cigarette ashes found in Riedweg's sink, defense counsel asked the court to reconsider its ruling and to allow him to present evidence that there was a strong smell of incense in the apartment, two marijuana cigarettes were found in the apartment, one of them was partially smoked, Stuart Cole smoked marijuana, and Cole was in the apartment earlier in the day before he played golf. This evidence would provide an alternative explanation for the presence of ashes in the kitchen sink. [ROA V30 804-09] The court ruled that it would not allow the evidence. [ROA V30 807] Detective Thomas Klein and his partner Detective Tim Pupke arrived at Riedweg's apartment at 5:14 p.m. They expanded the crime scene to include Dessau's apartment. [ROA V34 1345-50] Klein entered Riedweg's apartment and saw blood stains on the carpet in the living room. Once he reached the chair, he could see Riedweg's body lying in the hallway. Klein found a scuff mark on the kitchen floor and a pool of water near the refrigerator and sink. [ROA V34 1350-55] Craig Giovo, a Crime Scene Technician, arrived at Riedweg's apartment at 5:41 p.m. on February 9, 1999. [ROA V28 554-56, 587] Giovo videotaped the exterior of the apartments. [ROA V28 556] There was

a lounge chair on the sidewalk in front of her apartment. [ROA V 28 575- 76] There was a cordless phone on the ground. [ROA V28 576]

Robert Detwiler, a Forensic Science Specialist, arrived at Riedweg's apartment at 6:42 p.m. on February 9, 1999. [ROA V30 810-11] He noticed two men, one black and one white, standing in the parking lot. [ROA V30 812] He made a videotape of the interior of the apartment which was played for the jury. The tape showed a stain on the carpet, a white hair scrunchy, maroon towels, the arm of a chair, a wet spot on the kitchen floor, discarded paper towels, a pair of panties hanging on a door, a stain on the comforter on the bed, venetian blinds covering the bedroom window, a paper towel box, and the living room. [ROA V30 812-21] Detwiler observed water on the floor of the kitchen near the sink and cabinets. [ROA V30 823-24] Upon leaving Riedweg's apartment, Klein saw Dessaure standing with Connole near the parking lot. [ROA V34 1356] Dessaure was smoking a cigarette. [ROA V34 1357] Dessaure complied with the Officers' request to give them his blood stained shirt and his sandals. [ROA V34 1357-58, 1389, 1392-93] Connole loaned Dessaure a pair of tennis shoes. [ROA V28 540-41, 543, 1393] Dessaure took Klein and Giovo inside his apartment to show them the knife with which he cut his hand while he was washing dishes. [ROA V28 558; V34 1359, 1394-95] Giovo saw blood stains on the threshold and at the bottom of the door and later took samples. [ROA V28 559, 574] Dessaure showed them a knife on a dry sponge next to the kitchen sink. [ROA V28 561-62, 598; V34 1359] Giovo collected the knife and the sponge. [ROA V28 576-78] The water in the sink appeared greasy, and there were dirty dishes in the sink. [ROA V28 563-64, 590] There was smeared blood on the knife. Giovo saw a blood stain on the door of the freezer. [ROA V28 565] Giovo testified that he

opened the freezer door at 7:15 p.m. and saw blood stains on the bottom of the freezer and on the ice tray. [ROA V28 565, 567, 587] There was frost on the ice tray, and the ice cubes were frozen solid. He collected the ice tray. [ROA V28 566, 598] There was also an empty plastic cup in the freezer. [ROA V28 600] Giovo found and took samples of blood stains on the kitchen floor, the kitchen sink, the backsplash, and the faucet. [ROA V28 575] There was a bottle of bleach underneath the kitchen sink. [ROA V28 568-69] Giovo received Dessaure's sandals and shirt from Klein. [ROA V 28 570]

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