IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

KENNETH LOUIS DESSAURE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC09-393 L.T. No. CRC99-15522 CFANO DEATH PENALTY CASE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE SIXTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR PINELLAS COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

STEPHEN D. AKE

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0014087 Concourse Center 4 3507 E. Frontage Road, Suite 200 Tampa, Florida 33607-7013 Telephone: (813) 287-7910 Facsimile: (813) 281-5501 stephen.ake@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

⁵ Late in the evening on September 5, 2001, the jury returned their verdict finding Dessaure guilty of first degree murder. (DAR V37:1816-17). The next morning, trial counsel filed the Waiver of Right to Present Mitigation Evidence to the Jury in the Penalty Phase, on behalf of his client:

I, KENNETH LOUIS DESSAURE, the Defendant herein, do hereby waiver my right to present mitigation evidence to the jury, in the penalty phase of my trial. I am doing this against the advice of my attorneys. I understand I have the right to present mitigation evidence to the jury that would potentially lead to a life sentence. My attorneys have explained to me what they reasonably believe to be the mitigation evidence but I would rather not present it to the jury. My decision has been made freely and voluntarily.

I, KENNETH LOUIS DESSAURE, the Defendant herein, wish to retain my counsel, and understanding that society has a significant interest in determining whether a convicted murderer deserves to die, and to preserve the ability for meaningful appellate review, I direct counsel to challenge the State's case and present mitigation on my behalf to the Court, in summary form, without calling witnesses.

⁽DAR V24:4310-11; PCR V5:70-72).

decision and he specifically recalled having discussed that issue with Dr. Maher, who also found Dessaure competent to make that waiver. (PCR V8:196-99; DAR V38:1912). In fact, trial counsel Watts never felt that there were any issues with Dessaure's competency during his representation. (PCR V8:199).

At a hearing on September 6, 2001, trial counsel filed the waiver of right to present mitigating evidence to the jury, and the trial court conducted a colloquy with Dessaure regarding his decision. (DAR V37:1828-32). The court continued the sentencing proceedings until Tuesday, September 11, 2001, so that the State could depose Dr. Maher on Monday, September 10, 2001. (DAR V37:1828-29). At the conclusion of the hearing, trial counsel Schwartzberg informed the court that his client did not want to be placed on suicide watch:

[T]he Pinellas County Jail, in its infinite wisdom and policy, whenever a first degree murder conviction is returned, that individual is placed into a suicide watch and kept with nothing there. My client indicates that he is not in any way, shape, or form suicidal and has no intentions whatsoever to do anything."

(DAR V37:1837-38) (emphasis added).

On Tuesday, September 11, 2001, trial counsel filed a Waiver of Argument for Life Sentence that Dessaure had him prepare which stated: "The Defendant, KENNETH LOUIS DESSAURE, hereby waives argument by counsel in favor of a life sentence in this cause. Further, I join the State in seeking a death sentence." (DAR

V24:4313; PCR V8:200-03). Attorney Watts testified that he did not have any concerns about Dessaure's competency when he filed this waiver, as it was consistent with Dessaure's position from the outset. (PCR V8:203, 205, 220-21). At the September 11, 2001 nonjury penalty phase hearing, trial counsel proffered all of the mitigation evidence for the Court. (DAR V38:1886-1905). After proffering the mitigating evidence, trial attorney Watts informed the court that he "did ask Dr. Maher if he felt that Mr. Dessaure was competent to make the decision that he was making and he found him to be so." (DAR V38:1912).

Prior to the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, Dessaure changed his mind and allowed trial counsel to present certain mitigation. Watts testified that he did not recall specifically why he did not present Dr. Maher at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing but recalled that Dessaure was not enthusiastic about Dr. Maher and did not want to present his testimony. (PCR V8:207). The only reason Dessaure changed his mind and allowed any mitigating evidence to be presented at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing was because his girlfriend and mother of two of his children, Mary Parent, threatened to cut off all communication with him if he did not even attempt to obtain a life sentence. (PCR V8:221-23). Shortly after the <u>Spencer</u> hearing, Dessaure filed a Waiver of Presentation of Additional Mitigation and noted that the representations by his attorneys at

⁶ At the time he filed the second waiver, the trial court again

the nonjury penalty phase did not constitute evidence that the trial court could consider at sentencing, and expressly waived the presentation of any additional mitigation evidence, including from witnesses that were discussed at the proffer. (DAR V24:4351-52).

the postconviction evidentiary hearing, Dr. testified that he met with Dessaure on two occasions prior to his trial and, after the initial meeting, found that "there does not appear to be strong support for mental mitigation," but noted that there were some limited references to suicidal episodes in the past. (PCR V8:104). After meeting with Dessaure on a second reviewing records occasion and obtained from the Public Defender's Office, Dr. Maher diagnosed Dessaure with posttraumatic stress disorder based on his childhood experiences. (PCR V8:105-07). Dr. Maher gave this information to defense counsel, but noted that trial counsel was concerned that Dr. Maher's opinion would open the door to argument that Dessaure had an antisocial personality. (PCR V8:108). Dessaure was not cooperative with Dr. Maher and was uninterested in the penalty phase proceeding. (PCR V8:111).

Dr. Maher was aware of Dessaure's trial and had been informed by trial counsel that he was to be available if needed.

(PCR V8:118-19). Dr. Maher testified that he was unaware of the

waivers Dessaure signed, and if he had been made aware of this information, he would have recommended that Dessaure be evaluated for competency. (PCR V8:120-21). On cross-examination, Dr. Maher recalled giving a deposition with the State and defense counsel Watts immediately after the guilt phase and being informed at that time that Dessaure was not likely to present mitigating evidence, but Dr. Maher did not recall having a conversation with attorney Watts wherein he indicated that Dessaure was competent to waive the presentation of mitigating evidence. (PCR V8:126-27).

At the evidentiary hearing, collateral counsel also presented testimony from two mental health experts retained during the postconviction process, Dr. Henry Dee and Heidi Hanlon. Dr. Dee examined Dessaure and diagnosed him with depression and paranoid personality disorder. (PCR V7:16). Dr. Dee testified that Dessaure told him about his previous suicide attempts. (PCR V7:14, 27-28). Dr. Dee opined that Dessaure should have been examined for competency when he signed his waivers because, in his opinion, any defendant seeking to waive mitigation may not be competent because he would not be willing

Heidi Hanlon testified that she diagnosed Dessaure with polysubstance dependence, and briefly alluded to his self-reported suicide attempts. (PCR V7:54-70). Dessaure, however, was not under the influence of any drugs at the time of the murder or during his trial proceedings, and was also not suicidal at the time he executed his waivers. (PCR V7:64-66; DAR V37:1837-38).

to assist his defense. (PCR V7:24-51).

After hearing all of the evidence and argument from counsel, the trial court entered a detailed order on February 5, 2009, denying all of Dessaure's postconviction claims. (PCR V3:1-30). The instant appeal follows.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

trial court properly denied Dessaure's claim ineffective assistance of penalty phase counsel based on trial counsel's failure to seek a competency determination when Dessaure waived the presentation of mitigating evidence to the Trial counsel had previously had his expert examine Dessaure for competency and the expert informed trial counsel that Dessaure was competent to waive mitigation. Additionally, trial counsel had no reason to question Dessaure's competency because trial counsel had no issues in communicating with Dessaure, and Dessaure clearly understood the ramifications of his actions. Similarly, Appellant has failed to establish that the trial court erred in denying his claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to present available mitigation at the Spencer hearing. Because the lower court's factual findings are supported by competent, substantial evidence, and the legal principles were properly applied in denying relief, this Court should affirm the lower court's order.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE

THE LOWER COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF PENALTY PHASE COUNSEL CLAIM.

Appellant asserts in the instant appeal that his trial counsel was ineffective at the penalty phase when he (1) failed to move for a competency determination when Appellant waived the presentation of mitigation evidence to the jury, and (2) when counsel failed to present mitigation testimony from Dr. Maher at the <u>Spencer</u> hearing. Contrary to Appellant's assertions, the State submits that the lower court properly rejected these claims and found trial counsel provided effective assistance of counsel.

In order for a defendant to prevail on a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel claim pursuant to the United States Supreme Court's decision in Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), a defendant must establish two general components.

First, the claimant must identify particular acts or omissions of the lawyer that are shown to be outside the broad range of reasonably competent performance under prevailing professional standards. Second, the clear, substantial deficiency shown must further be demonstrated to have so affected the fairness and reliability of the proceeding that confidence in the outcome is undermined.

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984); Maxwell v. Wainwright, 490 So. 2d 927, 932 (Fla. 1986). When addressing the prejudice prong of a claim directed at penalty phase counsel's

performance, the defendant "must demonstrate that there is a reasonable probability that, absent trial counsel's error, the sentencer . . . would have concluded that the balance of aggravating and mitigating circumstances did not warrant death."

Cherry v. State, 781 So. 2d 1040, 1048 (Fla. 2000). Furthermore, as the Strickland Court noted, there is a strong presumption that counsel's performance was not ineffective. Id. at 690. A fair assessment of an attorney's performance requires that every effort be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time. Id. at 689. The defendant carries the burden to "overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action 'might be considered sound trial strategy.'" Id.

When reviewing a trial court's ruling on an ineffectiveness claim, this Court must defer to the trial court's findings on factual issues, but must review the trial court's ultimate conclusions on the deficiency and prejudice prong de novo. Bruno v. State, 807 So. 2d 55, 62 (Fla. 2001). In this case, the State submits that the trial court properly found that Appellant failed to carry his burden of establishing that trial counsel's representation was deficient. The testimony from the evidentiary hearing and the direct appeal record clearly establishes that trial counsel was not deficient for failing to move for a

competency hearing or for failing to present Dr. Maher's testimony at the Spencer hearing.

A. The trial court properly rejected Dessaure's claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move for a competency hearing when Dessaure waived his right to present mitigation evidence before a jury.

As the lower court properly found, trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to move for a competency hearing when Dessaure waived the presentation of mitigating evidence to a The testimony from the evidentiary hearing established that Dessaure had consistently maintained his position that he did not want to present mitigating evidence to the jury if he was convicted at the guilt phase. Prior counsel Barry Cobb, investigator Rita Bruno, and penalty phase counsel Richard Watts, all testified that Dessaure was likely going to waive the presentation of mitigation if convicted. Additionally, as noted by trial counsel at the time of the waiver, Dessaure's decision was against the advice of his three attorneys and was not something that had just "sprung up;" Dessaure had given considerable thought to this decision. (DAR V37:1827-28). Dr. Maher, defense counsel's mental health expert, had examined Dessaure to determine his competency and informed trial counsel that he was competent to make this decision. (V38:1912; PCR V8:196-99).

The morning after the jury's verdict finding Dessaure guilty of first degree murder, defense counsel filed a Waiver of Right to Present Mitigation Evidence to the Jury in the Penalty Phase on behalf of Dessaure. See footnote 5 and accompanying text, The trial court conducted a colloquy with infra at 21-22. Dessaure that clearly demonstrates that he understood consequences of this decision. Trial counsel also informed the court at this time that Dessaure was not suicidal and requested that he not be placed on suicide watch in the county jail. V37:1828-38). Likewise, when Dessaure returned to court the following week for the nonjury penalty phase proceedings, trial counsel filed the second waiver he prepared at the behest of Dessaure which indicated that Dessaure did not want trial counsel to argue for a life sentence, and Dessaure "joined" the State in seeking a death sentence. (DAR V24:4313). The trial court again conducted another colloquy with Dessaure regarding his waiver. (DAR V38:1843-49).

Appellant erroneously argues in his brief that the two waivers signed by Dessaure constituted a complete abandonment by penalty phase counsel. As the record demonstrates, penalty phase counsel Watts started investigating mitigation by utilizing the investigation material obtained from the Public Defender's Office and counsel also conducted his own investigation. Trial counsel was aware of the available mitigation in this case, but his

client made the decision to waive the presentation of this evidence to the jury. The law is well established that a competent defendant may legally waive his right to present mitigating evidence to a jury. See Robinson v. State, 913 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2005); Winkles v. State, 894 So. 2d 842 (Fla. 2005); Spann v. State, 857 So. 2d 845 (Fla. 2003); Griffin v. State, 820 So. 2d 906 (Fla. 2002).

that trial Appellant's argument counsel performed deficiently by failing to move for a competency determination is without merit and was properly rejected by the lower court. the trial court noted, it was not necessary to seek a competency determination because (1) Dessaure had previously been examined for competency and found to be competent; (2) at the time of the waiver, trial counsel represented that he had spoken with his mental health expert Dr. Maher, and the doctor concluded that Dessaure was competent to make this decision; and (3) trial testified that he had no reason to question the counsel competency of his own client. (PCR V3:17).

Appellant argues that the prior determination of competency should not have been relied upon by the lower court because Dr. Maher evaluated Appellant in March, 2001, and Appellant did not waive his penalty phase jury until September, 2001. Appellant further argues that the lower court erred by citing to Boyd v. State, 910 So. 2d 167, 188-89 (Fla. 2005), because Boyd is

distinguishable from the instant case. Appellant correctly notes that in <u>Boyd</u>, the defendant had been found judicially competent, while in the instant case, the court was never asked to determine Dessaure's competency.

Of course, a defendant is presumed competent, and in this case, there was never any bona fide question as to Dessaure's competency. See Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.210 (stating that if the court or counsel have reasonable ground to believe that the defendant may not be competent, the court should conduct a competency hearing). Trial counsel's confidential expert, Dr. Maher, had been retained by Dessaure's attorneys to determine, among other things, Dessaure's competency. Trial counsel Watts testified that, throughout his representation, Dessaure consistently maintained the position that he did not want to present any mitigating evidence. At the evidentiary hearing, trial counsel could not specifically recall when he spoke to Dr. Maher regarding Dessaure's competency to waive mitigation. direct appeal record establishes that the State (and Watts) deposed Dr. Maher on September 10, 2001, a few days after Dessaure had waived the penalty phase jury and the day before he signed his second waiver. (DAR V37:1828-29; PCR V8:126).8 When

⁸ Dr. Maher testified at the evidentiary hearing that he did not recall being informed of Dessaure's waivers, and had he been informed at the time, he would have recommended that Dessaure be evaluated for competency. (PCR V8:120-21). However, on cross-examination, he acknowledged that he was deposed by the State and

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